Viscosity of Multi-component Molten Nitrate Salts—Liquidus to 200°C

Robert W. Bradshaw

Prepared by Sandia National Laboratories Albuquerque, New Mexico 87185 and Livermore, California 94550

Sandia is a multiprogram laboratory operated by Sandia Corporation, a Lockheed Martin Company, for the United States Department of Energy's National Nuclear Security Administration under Contract DE-AC04-94AL85000.

Approved for public release; further dissemination unlimited.



Issued by Sandia National Laboratories, operated for the United States Department of Energy by Sandia Corporation.

NOTICE: This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government, nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, nor any of their contractors, subcontractors, or their employees, make any warranty, express or implied, or assume any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represent that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government, any agency thereof, or any of their contractors or subcontractors. The views and opinions expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government, any agency thereof, or any of their contractors.

Printed in the United States of America. This report has been reproduced directly from the best available copy.

Available to DOE and DOE contractors from U.S. Department of Energy Office of Scientific and Technical Information P.O. Box 62 Oak Ridge, TN 37831

Telephone:	(865) 576-8401
Facsimile:	(865) 576-5728
E-Mail:	reports@adonis.osti.gov
Online ordering:	http://www.osti.gov/bridge

Available to the public from U.S. Department of Commerce National Technical Information Service 5285 Port Royal Rd. Springfield, VA 22161

Telephone:	(800) 553-6847
Facsimile:	(703) 605-6900
E-Mail:	orders@ntis.fedworld.gov
Online order:	http://www.ntis.gov/help/ordermethods.asp?loc=7-4-0#online



SAND2010-1129 Unlimited Release Printed March 2010

Viscosity of Multi-component Molten Nitrate Salts—Liquidus to 200°C

Robert W. Bradshaw Materials Chemistry Dept. 8223 Sandia National Laboratories P.O. Box 969 Livermore, CA. 94551-0969

Abstract

The viscosity of molten salts comprising ternary and quaternary mixtures of the nitrates of sodium, potassium, lithium and calcium was determined experimentally. Viscosity was measured over the temperature range from near the relatively low liquidus temperatures of the individual mixtures to 200°C. Molten salt mixtures that do not contain calcium nitrate exhibited relatively low viscosity and an Arrhenius temperature dependence. Molten salt mixtures that contained calcium nitrate were relatively more viscous and viscosity increased as the proportion of calcium nitrate increased. The temperature dependence of viscosity of molten salts containing calcium nitrate displayed curvature, rather than linearity, when plotted in Arrhenius format. Viscosity data for these mixtures were correlated by the Vogel-Fulcher-Tammann-Hesse equation.

Acknowledgements

The author gratefully acknowledges Bill Anderson (8758) for laboratory support in preparing molten salt mixtures and performing viscosity measurements.

Contents

Introduction	7
Experimental Methods	7
Results and Discussion	9
Viscosity of molten lithium-sodium-potassium nitrate mixtures	9
Viscosity of ternary nitrate eutectics containing calcium nitrate	11
Viscosity of quaternary molten nitrate salts	12
Effects of sodium nitrate and sodium chloride on viscosity	15
Summary	

Figures

Figure 1. The viscosity of several molten lithium-sodium-potassium nitrate mixtures vs. temperature plotted in Arrhenius format	10
Figure 2. The viscosity of molten Ca-Na-K nitrate and Ca-Li-K nitrate eutectic mixtures vs. temperature plotted in Arrhenius format.	11
Figure 3. The effect of calcium nitrate on viscosity of several quaternary molten nitrate mixtures.	13
Figure 4. The effect of sodium nitrate content on viscosity of multi-component molten nitrate salts	16
Figure 5. The effect of sodium chloride on viscosity of a quaternary molten nitrate salt	17

Tables

Table 1. Compositions of multi-component molten nitrate salt mixtures for which viscosity was determined.	8
Table 2. Activation energies for viscosity of ternary molten nitrate salt mixtures composed of lithium, sodium and potassium nitrates.	. 10
Table 3. VFTH equation parameters for viscosity correlations of ternary molten nitrate salt mixtures containing calcium nitrate.	. 12
Table 4. VFTH equation parameters for viscosity correlations of quaternary molten nitrate mixtures	. 14

This page intentionally left blank.

Introduction

Multi-component molten salt mixtures formulated from the nitrates of sodium, potassium, lithium and calcium display liquidus temperatures below 100°C and, as such, have potential applications as heat transfer fluids or thermal energy storage media for parabolic trough solar thermal power systems.[1,2] Parabolic trough concentrating solar power plant technology is well suited to provide central electrical power generation capacity on a scale of 100 MW or greater.[3] By integrating thermal energy storage into such systems, solar energy collected during the daylight hours can be used to generate electricity during the peak demand periods, which are often during the late afternoon in the summer and the early evening in the winter. Recent developments concerning the economic and environmental issues affecting electrical power generation have generated substantial interest in near-term investment in large-scale parabolic trough technology.[4,5]

Physical property data concerning these multi-component nitrate molten salts are not available but are required to properly design parabolic trough systems and components. A particular need is for information regarding the viscosity of molten salts as this property strongly affects pumping costs, among other aspects of system performance. This report describes experimental measurements of the viscosity of multi-component nitrate salt mixtures. The effect of the various constituent salts on viscosity was studied in order to provide a basis for formulating mixtures to optimize fluid properties, among which viscosity is an important determinant of system efficiency. The viscosity behavior of the molten salt mixtures studied here may also provide fundamental information for interpreting viscosity in terms of the structure of these liquids.

Experimental Methods

The molten salt mixtures were prepared from reagent-grade NaNO₃, KNO₃, LiNO₃ and Ca(NO₃)₂-tetrahydrate (Sigma-Aldrich Co., St. Louis, MO) without further purification. The nitrate mixtures were melted by weighing prescribed amounts of the individual salts into high-purity alumina crucibles that were heated in furnaces open to the atmosphere. The temperature was initially limited to approximately 150°C to allow the water of hydration of the calcium nitrate constituent to evolve slowly. After visual indications of vapor evolution ceased, the melts were heated to 350°C to 400°C, periodically stirred, and maintained at an elevated temperature for at least one overnight period. The melts were then cooled by pouring into a stainless steel crucible quenched in an ice bath. The solidified salt was recovered, roughly ground to reduce the particle size for subsequent loading into the viscometer tube, and stored in sealed containers under desiccation by molecular sieve. The compositions of the molten salt mixtures prepared for viscosity measurements are listed in Table 1.

The viscosity of molten salt mixtures were measured using a Brookfield DV-II+ viscometer (Brookfield Engineering, Middleboro, MA). The molten salt mixtures were contained in a stainless steel crucible that was heated in a furnace maintained at constant temperature by a Brookfield Thermosel controller. A Brookfield 21S stainless steel spindle was appropriate for the range of viscosity of the molten salt mixtures. All measurements were performed at a single

rotational speed, 100 rpm, because molten nitrates are Newtonian fluids. The temperature was increased sequentially in 10°C increments from a starting point about 10°C–20°C above the liquidus of each mixture to a maximum between 200°C to 220°C, then successively decreased to the initial temperature to demonstrate repeatability of the measurements. The molten salt was maintained at each temperature sufficiently long for a steady state to be attained and the viscosity measurement to indicate a constant value. The viscometer configuration was limited to 20 cP at the minimum of measured values with a resolution of 0.5 cP over the entire range. Regardless, the accuracy of viscosity measurements was sufficient to compare the effect of the constituents of the molten salt mixtures on viscosity. The calibration of the viscometer was periodically verified by measuring a reference fluid, Brookfield Viscosity Standard Fluid 100, which had a certified viscosity of 99.2 cP at 25°C. No variation in the calibration of the instrument was observed during the course of the measurements.

Mixture Label	NaNO ₃	KNO ₃	Ca(NO ₃) ₂	LiNO₃	Liquidus Temp.
	mol%	mol%	mol%	mol%	°C
Lithium-Sod	lium-Potas	sium Nit	rate Mixtures	6	
LiNaK-1	18	45	Ι	37	120*
LiNaK-2	33	34	-	33	170
LiNaK-3	18	52	-	30	140
Calcium-Soc	dium-Pota	ssium Ni	trate Mixture	S	
CaNaK-1	21	54	25	-	133*
Calcium-Lith	nium-Pota	ssium Nit	rate Mixture	s	
CaLiK-1	_	57	12	31	117*
Quaternary	Nitrate Mix	ctures			
QA-5Ca	17	43	5	35	<110
QA-10Ca	16	41	10	33	<110
QB-6Ca	31	32	6	31	<140
QB-10Ca	30	30	10	30	<140
QC-10Ca	16	47	10	27	<130
QC-15Ca	15	45	15	25	<120
QD	20	38	12	30	<100

Table 1. Compositions of multi-component molten nitrate saltmixtures for which viscosity was determined. The liquidustemperatures of ternary mixtures were obtained from Reference 6.

* Eutectic mixtures.

Results and Discussion

Viscosity of molten lithium-sodium-potassium nitrate mixtures

The viscosity of several ternary molten salt mixtures composed of lithium-sodium-potassium (LiNaK) nitrates was measured at temperatures from about 200°C to near the liquidus temperature of each mixture. The mixtures studied were the eutectic, the equimolar and a mixture having a liquidus temperature intermediate between those two. The compositions and liquidus temperatures of these mixtures are given in Table 1.

The viscosity measurements are shown in Figure 1 using the Arrhenius format in which viscosity (log scale) is plotted vs. the inverse of the absolute temperature. The data points for the eutectic mixture (LiNaK-1) are represented by the open cross symbols, the equimolar mixture (LiNaK-2) by the filled diamonds, and the mixture melting at 140°C (LiNaK-3) by filled circles. The viscosity of these mixtures varied from 35 cP, for the eutectic mixture near the eutectic temperature, to about 6 cP at 220°C. Viscosity displayed negligible dependence on the composition of the mixtures within the range studied. No data concerning the viscosity of ternary Li-Na-K nitrate salt mixtures appear to have been published which would permit a comparison with the data reported here.

The temperature dependence of viscosity was correlated using the Arrhenius equation shown in Equation 1, in which η is the viscosity, A₀ is a constant, E_{visc} is the activation energy, R is the universal gas law constant, and T is the absolute temperature. Regression analysis of the viscosity data with the Arrhenius equation was performed using Kaleidagraph (Synergy Software, Reading, PA, version 4.04). The values of the activation energies are collected in Table 2 along with the least-squares correlation coefficient (R) for each mixture. The activation energy for viscosity of the ternary mixtures was approximately 6 kcal/mol. Table 2 compares the activation energies for the ternary Li-Na-K nitrate salt mixtures with those of the individual constituents based on data reported in the literature. The latter values range between 4 and 5 kcal/mol. The latter values were determined at temperatures above 300°C because the corresponding salts are not molten until considerably higher temperatures than the ternary mixtures.

$$\eta = A_0 \exp\left(E_{\text{visc}}/RT\right) \tag{1}$$



Figure 1. The viscosity of several molten lithium-sodium-potassium nitrate mixtures vs. temperature plotted in Arrhenius format.

Table 2. Activation energies for viscosity of ternary molten nitrate salt mixtures composed of lithium, sodium and potassium nitrates. The literature values for the individual nitrates and the equimolar mixture of sodium nitrate and potassium nitrate are shown for comparison.

NaNO₃	KNO₃	LiNO ₃	E _{visc}	R	
mol%	mol%	mol%	kcal		
18	45	37	6.83	0.996	
33	34	33	6.00	0.990	
18	52	30	6.39	0.994	
50	50	_	4.6 [7], (a)	_	
50	50	_	3.2 [7], (b) –		
100	_	_	3.89 [8] –		
_	100	_	4.97 [9] –		
_	_	100	4.39 [10] –		
_	_	100	4.58 [11]	_	

(a) Temperatures above 385°C.

(b) Temperatures below 385°C.

Viscosity of ternary nitrate eutectics containing calcium nitrate

The viscosity data for the eutectic mixtures of calcium-sodium-potassium nitrate (CaNaK-1, filled diamonds) and calcium-lithium-potassium nitrate (CaLiK-1, filled circles) are plotted in Figure 2, using the conventional semi-log Arrhenius format. The compositions of these nitrate salt mixtures are given in Table 1. The viscosity of molten salt mixtures with calcium nitrate was considerably greater than any of the Li-Na-K-nitrate melts described in the preceding section. Whereas the latter molten salts displayed viscosities of about 7 cP at 200°C, the calcium nitrate-containing mixtures were 15 cP (CaLiK-1) and 26 cP (CaNaK-1), respectively. The data in Figure 2 also show that the relatively large proportion of $Ca(NO_3)_2$ in the Ca-Na-K-nitrate eutectic (12 mol%) by a factor of two to three. At temperatures approaching the liquidus of these eutectics, the viscosity of mixture CaNaK-1 exceeded 100 cP while that of mixture CaLiK-1 exceeded 50 cP.



Figure 2. The viscosity of molten Ca-Na-K nitrate and Ca-Li-K nitrate eutectic mixtures vs. temperature plotted in Arrhenius format. The compositions of each mixture are given in Table 1. The data for the binary Ca-K nitrate mixture are from Ref. 12.

The published data for viscosity of molten nitrate salts containing calcium nitrate is quite limited. However, the viscosity of these ternary molten salt mixtures can be compared to data reported by Rhodes for a mixture of calcium nitrate (26 mol%) and potassium nitrate.[12] The minimum temperature of Rhodes' data was limited to about 200°C due to solidification. These data are also plotted in Figure 2 and are represented by the open square symbols. The mixture CaNaK-1, containing 25 mol% calcium nitrate, displays comparable viscosity and a similar trend with temperature compared to the binary mixture in the temperature region in which they overlap.

It is apparent from Figure 2 that viscosity of these calcium-nitrate-containing molten salts does not depend linearly on inverse absolute temperature in this semi-log format, i.e., following the Arrhenius equation, but displays curvature. The temperature dependence of the viscosity can be described by the Vogel-Fulcher-Tammann-Hesse equation, hereafter referred to as the VFTH equation.[13-15] This equation was originally developed to describe the viscosity of supercooled or glassy materials but subsequently has been applied successfully to a broad spectrum of the physical properties of liquids.[13] The typical form of the VFTH equation is shown in Equation 2, where A, B and T_0 are parameters determined by the best fit to the data. These parameters do not necessarily have a physical relationship to the molecular composition of the liquid system in most cases.

$$\log_{10} \eta = A + B/(T - T_0)$$
 (2)

Regression analysis of the data using the VFTH equation was performed using the software application Kaleidagraph as noted above with an allowable error criterion of 0.1%. The lines in Figure 2 indicate the close correlation achieved by the VFTH equation for these sets of data. The parameters obtained by regression analysis for the two eutectic salt mixtures are given in Table 3.

Mixture	VFTH equation parameters					
	Α	В	To	R		
CaLiK-1	0.0767	164.3	36.04	0.998		
CaNaK-1	-0.676	416.3	-3.62	0.992		

Table 3. VFTH equation parameters for viscosity correlations of
ternary molten nitrate salt mixtures containing calcium nitrate.
The units of parameters B and T_0 are Kelvin.

Viscosity of quaternary molten nitrate salts

Three pairs of quaternary molten salt mixtures were prepared such that the calcium nitrate content was varied within each pair. These mixtures were selected in order to clarify the effect of calcium nitrate on the viscosity of molten salts that may have solar energy applications. The compositions of these mixtures are given in Table 1, where the designators QA, QB and QC are used for each pair and the mol% of calcium nitrate is given by the suffix. The viscosity data for these quaternary nitrate mixtures are plotted in Figure 3 using the Arrhenius format. The data are

organized such that open symbols represent the lower $Ca(NO_3)_2$ content of each pair and the filled symbols, the relatively higher one. The viscosity data clearly demonstrate that increasing the calcium nitrate content of any of the baseline mixtures increases the viscosity significantly. For example, mixture QA-10Ca displays viscosity values (filled square symbols, dotted line) that are about 50% greater than those of QA-5Ca (open square symbols, dotted line) over the entire temperature range of the measurements. The viscosity of some of these mixtures exceeded 100 cP at the low end of the temperature range of the measurements, approximately 100°C.



Figure 3. The effect of calcium nitrate on viscosity of several quaternary molten nitrate mixtures. Viscosity is plotted vs. temperature in Arrhenius format.

It is apparent from Figure 3 that the viscosity of quaternary molten nitrate salts does not depend linearly on inverse absolute temperature in this semi-log format but displays curvature. Such temperature dependence of viscosity can be described by the VFTH equation, as discussed in the preceding section. Data regression using the VFTH equation was performed as noted above and the VFTH equation parameters determined for the six quaternary salt mixtures are given in Table 4. The linear least squares regression coefficients, R in Table 4, indicate that good correlations were obtained for all mixtures. Similarly, the coincidence of data points and calculated lines in Figure 3 indicate the close correlation achieved by the VFTH equation for these sets of data.

Mixture Label	Α	В (К)	T₀(K)	R	B/T₀
QA-5Ca	0.4914	75.96	61.64	0.994	1.2
QA-10Ca	0.5644	81.37	63.24	0.994	1.3
QB-6Ca	0.7084	21.51	127.6	0.990	0.17
QB-10Ca	0.7175	28.31	122.3	0.997	0.23
QC-10Ca	0.1958	138.2	42.39	0.999	3.3
QC-15Ca	-0.383	315.0	-1.79	0.994	-175.
QD	0.3460	392.3	29.97	0.999	13.1

Table 4. VFTH equation parameters for viscosity correlations of quaternary molten nitrate mixtures.

The parameters of the VFTH equations for multi-component molten nitrate salts can be characterized according to several criteria which may provide additional confidence in the correlations; for example, should the viscosity data be extrapolated to higher temperatures than the range of measurements.

The parameter, T_0 , is a characteristic temperature at which the viscosity increases without limit. T_0 corresponds to the glass transition temperature for those materials that display such secondorder phase transitions, such as silicate and borate glasses.[17] Molten binary nitrate salts that contain appreciable amounts of calcium nitrate tend to supercool significantly and display a metastable glassy phase.[18] The glass transition behavior of quaternary molten nitrate salts was not determined; however, we observed that such melts tended to supercool and form very viscous, metastable glassy liquids that eventually solidified. Binary molten salts composed of KNO₃ and Ca(NO₃)₂ require at least 30 mol% calcium nitrate to form a glassy phase according to Angell.[19] Thus, the quaternary molten salts studied here may not form true glasses because the proportion of calcium nitrate may be insufficient. Regardless, the value of T_0 should be less than the glass transition temperature of a given material and certainly less than the liquidus temperature of non-eutectic mixtures, such as the quaternary nitrate salts studied here. Table 4 shows that the T_0 values (note that the units are Kelvin) are very low for all of the quaternary molten salt mixtures and thus these VFTH parameters are consistent with this criterion.

Another consistency criterion for VFTH parameters concerns the ratio B/T_0 , which has been termed the "D" parameter, and is a metric of the strength of the glassy network formed by a given material.[13] A threshold value of D = 30 has been suggested as a lower limit for strong network-forming glasses, such as silica or borates.[20] In contrast, binary molten nitrate salts containing potassium nitrate and calcium nitrate, as discussed by Xu and Angell [21] would be categorized as "fragile" glasses. Table 4 shows that the D parameters for all of the quaternary molten salt mixtures are significantly less than 30 and thus the VFTH parameters are consistent with the experimental observations of metastable glassy-appearing liquids noted above.

Understanding the effect of molten salt composition on viscosity or the structure of the molten salt is beyond the scope of this report. However, we can observe that the behavior of these molten nitrate salt mixtures will likely depend, to some extent, upon the dissimilar characteristics of the ions that comprise the melt. Although the cations are spherical, the nitrate anion is a relatively large planar structure with three-pointed star symmetry.[16] That anion shape can affect viscosity due to the rotational restrictions that are inherent in its geometry.[7] The presence of a significant molar fraction of divalent calcium cations also affects the structure of the liquid phase as two nitrate anions are introduced into the liquid for each calcium cation, thereby upsetting the cation-anion balance from a purely space-filling aspect. These additional anions may also experience restricted rotation during fluid shear and increase the viscosity. However, as mentioned previously, the molten nitrate mixtures remain Newtonian fluids.

Effects of sodium nitrate and sodium chloride on viscosity

The effect of sodium nitrate on viscosity of multi-component molten salts was studied in one instance. A molten salt mixture was prepared based on the Ca-Li-K-nitrate eutectic in which 20 mol% of the KNO₃ was replaced by an equal amount of NaNO₃. The resulting composition is given in Table 1 by the entry designated QD. The viscosity measurements for these two mixtures are compared in the Arrhenius plot in Figure 4. The viscosity of the molten salt containing NaNO₃, represented by the filled circles, was somewhat higher than that of the Ca-Li-K-nitrate eutectic (shown by the square symbols) over the temperature range studied. The increase was approximately 10% to 20%, a much smaller effect than the increase caused by comparable additions of calcium nitrate. The VFTH equation parameters for mixture QD are given in Table 4.

The effect of sodium chloride on viscosity of multi-component molten salts was studied briefly because NaCl is the primary impurity in the least costly commodity grades of the constituents of the multi-component nitrate mixtures. A molten salt mixture was prepared by adding 5 mol% NaCl to the baseline Ca-Li-Na-K-nitrate mixture designated QC-10Ca in Table 1. Such an addition is much larger than the anticipated impurity content of 1% but was used to accentuate any effects due to chloride. The viscosity measurements for these two mixtures are compared in the Arrhenius plot in Figure 5. The viscosity of the molten salt containing NaCl, represented by the filled circles, was approximately 10% higher than that of the quaternary mixture (square symbols) over the temperature range studied. The behavior observed here agrees with the effect of chloride additions to KNO₃-Ca(NO₃)₂ molten salts reported by Rhodes.[18]



Figure 4. The effect of sodium nitrate content on viscosity of multi-component molten nitrate salts. The data compare the Ca-Li-K-nitrate eutectic and quaternary molten salt mixture QD. The compositions are given in Table 1.



Figure 5. The effect of sodium chloride on viscosity of a quaternary molten nitrate salt. The data compare quaternary molten salt mixture QC-10Ca with and without 5 mol% NaCl.

Summary

The viscosity of several ternary and quaternary molten nitrate salt mixtures, consisting of various proportions of the nitrates of sodium, potassium, lithium and calcium, were determined experimentally at temperatures from near the liquid–solid phase transition temperatures to approximately 200°C. The addition of calcium nitrate to molten salts that were predominantly potassium nitrate and sodium nitrate significantly increased the viscosity. The viscosity of these mixtures increased proportionally to the calcium nitrate content. In contrast, the lithium nitrate content of molten salts that were predominantly potassium nitrate and sodium nitrate had relatively little effect on viscosity within the composition range studied. The temperature dependence of viscosity of mixtures composed of lithium, sodium and potassium nitrates followed the Arrhenius equation, while the addition of calcium nitrate produced a temperature dependence described by the VFTH equation.

Advanced designs of parabolic trough solar collector systems are intended to operate at temperatures up to 500°C, given suitable improvements in heat transfer fluids.[22] The quaternary molten nitrate salts described in this report may be acceptable for such applications; however, the fluid properties need to be specified over the operating temperature range of the system to enable engineering design calculations. Although the experimental apparatus used here was unable to measure viscosity above 200°C, the good fit of viscosity data versus temperature using the VFTH equation discussed above provides the basis to extrapolate viscosity of the quaternary nitrate mixtures to higher temperatures of engineering interest. Additional viscosity data for temperatures above 200°C and extrapolated viscosity values based on the VFTH equation are discussed in a subsequent report.[23]

References

- R. W. Bradshaw and D. A. Brosseau, "Improved Molten Salt Formulations for Heat Transfer Fluids in Parabolic Trough Solar Power Systems," Proceedings, SolarPACES 2008, Las Vegas, NV, March 4-7, 2008.
- 2. R. W. Bradshaw and D. A. Brosseau, U. S. Patent 7,588,694, "Low-Melting Point Inorganic Nitrate Salt Heat Transfer Fluid," Sandia National Laboratories, Sept. 12, 2009.
- 3. National Renewable Energy Laboratory, http://www.nrel.gov/csp/troughnet/solar_field. html, July 2008.
- 4. Arizona Public Service, http://www.aps.com/main/green/Solana/Technology.html, 2008.
- 5. SolarPACES, http://www.solarpaces.org/Tasks/Task1/ANDASOL.HTM, 2008.
- 6. *Phase Diagrams for Ceramists*, E. M. Levin, C. R. Robbins and H. F. McMordie, Editors, Vol. I, Diagrams 1070 and 1074, American Ceramic Society, 1964, and, Vol. II, Diagrams 2831 and 2844, American Ceramic Society, 1969.
- 7. D. A. Nissen, "Thermophysical Properties of the Equimolar Mixture NaNO₃-KNO₃ from 300°C to 600°C," *J. Chem. Engg. Data*, **27**, 269-273 (1982).
- 8. V. M. B. Nunes, M. J. Lourenco, F. J. V. Santos, and C. A. Nieto de Castro, "Viscosity of Sodium Nitrate," *Internat. J. Thermophysics*, **27**, (6) 1638-1649 (2006).
- 9. M. J. C. Lanca, M. J. Lourenco, F. J. V. Santos, V. M. B. Nunes and C. A. Nieto de Castro, "Viscosity of Potassium Nitrate," *High Temp. High Press.*, **33**, 427 (2001).
- 10. I. G. Murgulescu and S. Zuca, "Viscosite des Melanges Binares de Nitrates Fondu en Fonction de Rayon Ionique," *Electrochimica Acta*, **11**, 1383-1389 (1966).
- 11. G. J. Janz, S. W. Lurie and J. L. Gardner, "Viscosity of Molten Lithium Nitrate," J. Chem. Eng. Data, 23 (1), 14 (1978).
- 12. E. Rhodes, W. E. Smith and A. R. Ubbelohde, "Melting and Crystal Structure: Association in Nitrate Melts," *Proc. Roy. Soc. London, Series A*, **285** (1401), 263-274 (1965).
- M. L. F. Nascimento and C. Aparicio, "Data Classification with the Vogel-Fulcher-Tammann-Hesse Viscosity Equation Using Correspondence Analysis," *Physica B*, **398**, 71-77 (2007).
- 14. R. Weiler, S. Blaser and P. B. Macedo, "Viscosity of a Vitreous Potassium Nitrate-Calcium Nitrate Mixture," J. *Phys. Chem.*, **73** (18), 4147 (1969).

- 15. F. Gutman and L. M. Simmons, "The Temperature Dependence of the Viscosity of Liquids," *J. Appl. Phys.*, **23** (9), 977 (1952).
- 16. G. J. Janz and D. W. James, "Raman Spectra and Ionic Interactions in Molten Nitrates," *J. Chem. Phys.*, **35** (2), 739 (1961).
- 17. P. F. Green, "Kinetics, Transport and Structure in Hard and Soft Materials," Taylor and Francis Group, London, UK, p. 217ff (2005).
- 18. E. Rhodes, W. E. Smith and A. R. Ubbelohde, "Relaxation Processes in Super-Cooled Nitrate Melts," *Trans. Faraday. Soc.*, **63** (536P), 1943-1952 (1967).
- 19. C. A. Angell, "Free Volume Model for Transport in Fused Salts: Electrical Conductance in Glass-Forming Nitrate Melts," J. Phys. Chem., 68 (7), 1917-1929 (1964).
- 20. C. A. Angell, "Relaxation in Liquid and Glassy Phases Near the Fragile Liquid Limit," J. Non-Crystalline Solids, **102**, 205-221 (1988).
- 21. W. Xu, E. I. Cooper and C. A. Angell, "Ionic Liquids: Ion Mobilities, Glass Temperatures, and Fragilities," *J. Phys. Chem. B*, **107**, 6170-6178 (2003).
- 22. G. J. Kolb and R. B. Diver, "Conceptual Design of an Advanced Trough Utilizing a Molten Salt Working Fluid," Proceedings, SolarPACES 2008, Las Vegas, NV, March 4-7, 2008.
- 23. R. W. Bradshaw, "Viscosity of Quaternary Molten Nitrate Salt Mixtures, Supplemental Data and Extrapolated Values to 500°C," Sandia National Laboratories, in preparation.

Distribution

- Frank (Tex) Wilkins
 U.S. Department of Energy EE-2A
 Office of Solar Energy Technologies
 1000 Independence Avenue, SW
 Washington, DC 20585
- Tommy Rueckert
 U.S. Department of Energy EE-2A
 Concentrating Solar Power
 1000 Independence Avenue, SW
 Washington, DC 20585
- Joseph W. Stekli
 U. S. Department of Energy Office of Solar Energy Technologies 950 L'Enfant Plaza SW Washington, DC 20585
- Mark Mehos
 Greg Glatzmaier
 Craig Turchi
 National Renewable Energy Laboratory
 1617 Cole Blvd.
 Branch 4710/115
 Golden, CO 80401-3393
- 1
 MS 1127
 J. R. Tillerson, 6337

 1
 MS 1127
 T. R. Mancini, 6337
- 1 MS 1127 N. P. Siegel, 6337
- 1 MS 1127 D. D. Gill, 6337
- 1 MS 1127 B. D. Iverson, 6337
- 1 MS 1127 G. J. Kolb, 6335
- 1 MS 9403 T. J. Shepodd, 8223
- 1 MS 9403 J. G. Cordaro, 8223
- 3 MS 9403 R. W. Bradshaw, 8223
- 1 MS 0899 Technical Library, 9616
- 2 MS 9018 Central Technical Files, 8945-1
- 1 MS 9021 Classification Office, 8511 for DOE/OSTI
- 1 MS 0161 Patent and Licensing Office, 11500